IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Cause No. DA 18-0025

IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF:

CHAD MICHAEL BESSETTE,

Petitioner and Appellee,

and

JENNIFER RUTH BESSETTE,

Respondent and Appellant.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal From
Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court, Flathead County
Before the Honorable Robert B. Allison

APPEARANCES:

JENNIFER RUTH BESSETTE
202 Blenn Street
Bigfork, MT 59911
Telephone: (406)210-6844
jennerality@icloud.com

SEAN R. GILCHRIST
JOHNSON-GILCHRIST LAW FIRM
6336 Highway 93 South
Whitefish, MT 59937
Telephone: (406)862-8932
sean@johnsongilchristlaw.com

PRO SE APPELLANT

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the District Court err in amending the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan when it found there was no substantial change in circumstances?
2. Did the District Court err in suspending the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan under the guise of a temporary order?
3. Did the District Court err in ordering supervised visitation for Jennifer?
4. Did the Court err in failing to admit the psychological evaluation into evidence?
5. Did the District Court err in failing to refer the matter to Family Court Services?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case began on November 5, 2015, when Petitioner and Appellee Chad Michael Bessette (hereinafter “Chad”) initiated the proceeding by filing a Petition for Dissolution of Marriage and for Parenting Plan in the Eleventh Judicial District Court of Montana in Flathead County. (D.C. Doc. 1.) Respondent and Appellant Jennifer Ruth Bessette (hereinafter “Jennifer”) timely responded and litigation ensued. The matter proceeded forward with the parties entering into a Stipulated Final Parenting Plan, filed November 16, 2016. (D.C. Doc. 56.)

In August 2017, Chad sought and obtained a Temporary Order of Protection against Jennifer after an incident at the marital residence. Shortly thereafter, the

parties engaged Christina Larsen, Esq. to act as Guardian ad Litem on behalf of the minor child. Ms. Larsen was appointed by Order of the Court on September 15, 2017, as a “limited scope” Guardian ad Litem. (D.C. Doc. 167.)

On November 29, 2017, the parties entered into a Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan concerning the care and support of the minor child, as well as a Marital and Property Settlement Agreement resolving their dispute as to the division of their marital estate and the maintenance of either spouse. (D.C. Docs. 180 & 181.) The Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan was approved and adopted by Order of the Court on December 1, 2018. (D.C. Doc. 182.)

On December 15, 2017, Chad filed a Motion for Ex Parte Order for Interim Relief and for Order to Show Cause, along with a Brief in Support, Affidavit, and Rule 3 Certification. (D.C. Docs. 184 – 187.) Although her role had been limited by the terms of the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan, the Guardian ad Litem also filed a Confidential Emergency Report to the Court on December 15, 2017. (D.C. Doc. 183.) The District Court issued an Order for Ex Parte Interim Relief and Order to Show Cause on December 15, 2017, setting the matter for hearing. (D.C. Doc.188.)

The hearing occurred on January 3, 2018. Chad appeared with counsel, Sean R. Gilchrist. Jennifer appeared *pro se*. At the hearing, Jennifer objected to the relief requested by Chad and argued that the Stipulated Amended Parenting

Plan should remain in full force and effect due to the lack of substantial change in circumstances. However, Jennifer requested that the District Court refer the matter to the Eleventh Judicial District Court's Family Court Services if the District Court was inclined to involve a Guardian ad Litem again. Her motion was denied. Jennifer also attempted to introduce her psychological evaluation into evidence. Chad objected, but the Court did not overrule or sustain the objection.

At the conclusion of the hearing, the District Court made an oral pronouncement that "I'm not going to modify the Parenting Plan, I'm – at least I'm going to suspend it for a period of time." *Transcript*, at 132-133. "...it isn't a change in circumstances, it's the same old –stuff." *Transcript*, at 134. "So I'm going to suspend the Parenting Plan until such time – I want you to completed [sic] the 40 hours of – its actually called Power and Control counseling with John Buttram..." *Transcript*, at 135. Upon completion of counseling with Mr. Buttram and upon recommendation of Christina Larsen and the child's counselor, Diana Auerhammer, "they can agree upon a resumption of unsupervised parenting time under phase 1, followed by 2, followed by 3..." *Transcript*, at 136.

On January 11, 2018, Jennifer filed her Notice of Appeal with this Court after the District Court's oral pronouncement. The District Court issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order on February 23, 2018. (D.C. Doc. 202.) Jennifer now appeals.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Chad and Jennifer are currently married and are the parents of one minor child, L.G.B., currently age six. On November 15, 2016, the parties entered into a Stipulated Final Parenting Plan providing for the care and support of the minor child. (D.C. Doc. 56.) Under the terms of the Plan, the parties' minor child L.G.B. spent the majority of her time in Jennifer's primary care. *Stipulated Final Parenting Plan*, page 6. Due to changes in Chad's work schedule during winter months, his parenting time differed depending on the time of year. From November through March, Chad had parenting time every Wednesday evening until Friday afternoon, along with alternating weekends. *Id.* From March through November, Chad had parenting time every Thursday evening until Friday evening, along with alternating weekends. *Id.* The remainder of the child's time was spent in Jennifer's care.

The parties did not resolve their dispute as to the division of the marital estate, such that no decree was entered and no Marital and Property Settlement Agreement was signed at that time. Additional litigation ensued concerning property issues and discovery disputes.

On June 12, 2017, Jennifer filed a Motion to Amend Parenting Plan and Request for Hearing, along with a supporting Affidavit and Proposed Amended Parenting Plan. (D.C. Docs. 102-14.)

The parties attended a Pre-trial Conference on August 3, 2017. On August 8, 2017, the District Court issued an Order Denying Motion to Amend Parenting Plan. (D.C. Doc. 161.) The same day, the District Court set the remaining issues for nonjury trial. (D.C. Doc. 160.) Around the same time, Chad sought and obtained a Temporary Order of Protection against Jennifer in companion case Flathead County Cause No. DR-17-555(B). The District Court then vacated the scheduling order and trial dates. (D.C. Doc. 163.)

On September 8, 2017, Jennifer filed an Unopposed Motion for Appointment of Limited Scope Guardian ad Litem, seeking the appointment of Christina Larsen, Esq. to act as *guardian ad litem* for L.G.B. (D.C. Doc. 166.) Ms. Larsen was appointed by Order of the Court dated September 15, 2017. (D.C. Doc. 167.) Ms. Larsen's role as Guardian ad Litem (hereinafter "GAL") was to be limited to "issues of parenting and parental contact in light of the Order of Protection recently issued by the Court and recommendations to the Court concerning what contact the child should have with Respondent." *Order Appointing Limited Scope Guardian Ad Litem*, ¶ 2.

Upon her appointment as GAL, Ms. Larsen worked on "arranging supervised visitation between [Jennifer] and [L.G.B.]." *Transcript*, at 64. Ms. Larsen met and interviewed the child, met the parties, and spoke to various other individuals involved in the matter. *Id.*

Prior to Ms. Larsen completing a report and recommendation, the parties resolved the pending issues. *Transcript*, at 65-66. On November 29, 2017, the parties attended settlement conference with Vanessa Ceravolo, Esq. *Transcript*, at 29. Both of the parties had counsel present and the conference was approximately 12 hours in length. *Id.*

The parties eventually entered into a Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan and Marital and Property Settlement Agreement. (D.C. Docs. 180 & 181.) The Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan was approved and adopted by Order of the District Court dated December 1, 2017. (D.C. Doc. 182.)

In recognition of the history of the case, the parties agreed to a carefully crafted, phased-in parenting schedule they described as a “Transitional Parenting Schedule.” *Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan*, page 5. Under the Transitional Parenting Schedule, Jennifer’s contact with the child gradually increased over a period of several months. Phase 1 began with “day time parenting on either Saturday or Sunday from 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. for a two week period,” as well as “midweek visits with the minor child on Wednesday from afterschool (approximately 3:30 p.m.) until 7:00 p.m.” *Id.*

Phase 2 included overnight parenting time from Saturday at 8:00 a.m. until Sunday at 6:00 p.m. on Sunday. *Id.* After three weeks of phase 2, Jennifer was to move onto alternating weekend parenting from Friday after school until Monday

morning. *Id.* Phase 3 was to last approximately four weeks. Thereafter, the parties were to share time with the child on a week-on, week-off basis with exchanges taking place on Fridays afterschool. *Id.*, at 6. The parties expected the week-on, week-off schedule to begin on February 9, 2018. *Id.*

Under the terms of the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan, Ms. Larsen's role as GAL was specifically modified as follows:

Guardian Ad Litem. The parties agree to continue the appointment and services of Christina H. Larsen, Esq. as the Guardian Ad Litem (GAL) for the minor child to oversee the Transitional Parenting Schedule as set forth above and for the first month of the Regular Schedule set forth below. The parties agree that the GAL shall not reduce the time periods identified under the Phase periods above. The GAL shall support the parties' Transitional Parenting Schedule above, absent a finding of new extenuating circumstances which will lead her to conclude that the pace of the transition is contrary to the child's best interest. The parties agree that the GAL shall be monitoring the child's adjustment through the Phase periods above. The parties agree to begin the Regular Schedule set forth below beginning February 9th, 2018, with Mother to have the first parenting week in the parties' alternating week schedule. The parties shall share equally in the cost of the GAL's services prior to date. Father shall be solely responsible for the costs associated with the GAL's services from the date of the Plan forward.

Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan, page 6.

The parties agreed that the minor child would be removed from the Temporary Order of Protection Chad obtained in August 2017. *Id.*, page 9.

The Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan further included provisions for the child's continued counseling, as well as counseling for Jennifer. *Id.*, page 5.

The parties also agreed to specific provisions concerning exchanges of the minor child, including that "exchanges of the minor child at [the specified location] shall be an exception to the Order of Protection issued against Mother in favor of Father issued on August 7th, 2017." *Id.*, page 9. And that "there shall be no communication between the parties at the exchanges. If either party fails to respect the terms set forth herein regarding the exchanges of the minor child, the exchange provisions set forth herein may be modified upon motion of either party." *Id.*

On December 13, 2017, approximately two weeks after the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan was executed, an incident occurred at the exchange of the minor child at Pick's Bowling Alley in Bigfork, Montana. Chad brought his girlfriend, Robyn Paulson, to the exchange, despite Ms. Paulson having a Temporary Order of Protection against Jennifer. *Transcript*, at 44.

The details of the incident differ depending on which party describes the events. Chad alleges that Jennifer "sped towards [him and L.G.B.]...came within a foot and half, two feet of [his] car, and started yelling... 'you shouldn't bring that bitch here....'" *Transcript*, at 20. According to Chad, Jennifer then "hit the accelerator, sped off, went through the parking lot and exited." *Id.*

Jennifer's version of the events differs in that Jennifer recalls her car being "parked very close to [Chad's] because it was icy and snowy and [she] didn't want [the child] to have to walk across the lot and slip on the ice." *Transcript*, at 101. Jennifer acknowledges that she saw Robyn Paulson was in Chad's car and she "pulled forward to leave the lot, and slowed down beside [Chad's] car, rolled down [her] window and told [Chad] do not bring [his] girlfriend near [Jennifer]." *Id.*

The District Court made no specific findings of fact as to the incident. See generally, *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order* (D.C. Doc. 202.)

On December 15, 2017, Chad filed a Motion for Ex Parte Order for Interim Relief and Order to Show Cause, along with a Brief in Support, Affidavit in Support, and Rule 3 Certification by his counsel. (D.C. Docs. 184-187.) Chad's Motion requested reinstatement of Christina Larsen as GAL, immediate suspension of the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan, and immediate suspension of Jennifer's unsupervised contact with the minor child. *Motion for Ex Parte Order for Interim Relief*, pages 1-2. Chad's sole basis for the relief sought was the incident at Pick's Bowling Alley. See generally, *Affidavit of Chad Michael Bessette* (D.C. Doc. 186.)

The District Court issued the Order for Ex Parte Interim Relief and Order to Show Cause on December 15, 2017, setting the matter for hearing on January 3, 2018. (D.C. Doc. 188.)

On December 28, 2017, Jennifer filed her Response and Objection to Petitioner's Motion for Ex Parte Order for Interim Relief and Affidavit in Support. (D.C. Docs. 189 & 190.) In those filings, Jennifer argued that no substantial change in circumstances had occurred and that the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan already included provisions that provided for the situation. Jennifer further argued that if the District Court was inclined to refer the matter back to a GAL, it should instead refer the case to Family Court Services. *Response and Objection*, page 5.

At the hearing on January 3, 2018, the parties each gave their differing accounts of the incident at the bowling alley. Chad also provided testimony concerning incidents and information that was known to the parties and the District Court *prior* to the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan being executed by the parties and adopted by the Court. For example, Chad testified as to unsubstantiated allegations that Jennifer had keyed his girlfriend's car. *Transcript*, at 13.

During his testimony, Chad acknowledged substantial buyer's remorse as it related to his signing of the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan.

THE COURT: (quoting Mr. Gilchrist) "Why did you agree to a parenting plan which allowed Jennifer unsupervised time." Overruled. Go ahead.

MR. BESSETTE: The reason for that was a risk on my part. I did not want to raise my daughter in continued conflict with Jennifer, it had gone on for so many years at

this point, and I just I thought maybe had we entered into a Final Parenting Plan with some amendments that at some point we could actually parents (sic) together and in the best interest of [L.G.B.] do that, and after what had happened at the bowling alley that night I see that you know that I may have not made the right choice.

Transcript, at 15.

MS. BESSETTE: And you agreed to that Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan knowing the entire history of this case and being fully aware of all the facts to consider?

MR. BESSETTE: Uh-huh.

MS. BESSETTE: Okay. Was that a yes?

MR. BESSETTE: Yes.

Transcript, at 33.

MS. BESSETTE: Okay. And did you show up at the lawyer's office the first thing the following morning to rescind your signature?

MR. BESSETTE: I wanted to follow up to see if you had in fact signed that, and if not what the options were at that point.

MS. BESSETTE: Was it not your desire to rescind your signature the following morning?

MR. BESSETTE: I had had reservations about how the Parenting Plan was going to go into effect and thought that had you not signed it may be we could look at some other options.

MS. BESSETTE: So is that a yes?

MR. BESSETTE: Are you asking if I wanted to rescind it?

MS. BESSETTE: yes.

MR. BESSETTE: I had thoughts about it, yes.

Transcript, at 35-36.

MS. BESSETTE: Thank you. Is it fair to say that you were unhappy with the agreement by the following morning?

MR. BESSETTE: Yes.

Transcript, at 37-38.

Aside from the incident at the bowling alley, Chad offered no new facts or additional information related to any change that occurred between the signing of the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan and his filing for ex parte relief approximately two weeks later.

GAL Christina Larsen, Esq. was called to testify at the hearing. She provided extensive hearsay testimony concerning the child's alleged account of the incident at the bowling alley. *Transcript*, at 70. Jennifer appropriately objected as to the testimony being hearsay. *Id.* Jennifer's objections were overruled and Ms. Larsen was permitted to testify as to what L.G.B. allegedly told her. *Id.*

Aside from the incident at the bowling alley, Ms. Larsen did not have new information to consider. Rather, she expressed disagreement with the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan based on the past:

MS. LARSEN: I feel like nothing has changed in this case. I think we are in – I feel that [Jennifer] is in almost exactly the same place she was when I first met her in September.

Transcript, at 72.

During cross-examination by Jennifer, Ms. Larsen was asked about the psychological evaluation she requested Jennifer undergo by Dr. Reed.

MS. BESSETTE: Did you feel that the findings were positive?

MS. LARSEN: They were quite favorable to you, yes.

MS. BESSETTE: Did the eval determine there were any concerns for my parenting time?

MS. LARSEN: I don't think the eval used those words. The eval identified concerns regarding obsessive behavior on your part, but also Dr. Reed made a number of observations that were very favorable to you, and I think she did say that she thought you should have time with your daughter. But I can't remember if she – I can go look at the eval.

Transcript, at 81-82.

When Jennifer attempted to have the evaluation by Dr. Reed admitted into evidence, Chad objected. *Transcript*, at 82. Despite having allowed Ms. Larsen to testify at length regarding the child's statements, Jennifer was initially prevented from introducing the evaluation by Dr. Reed into evidence. See *Exhibit B*. However, the District Court did allow Jennifer to ask Ms. Larsen questions concerning the same.

MS. BESSETTE: Would it be accurate to say that Dr. Reed determined that there was no indication of major or chronic psychiatric problems.

...

MS. LARSEN: Yes.

MS. BESSETTE: Okay. And at the top of that page for the Parenting Stress Index would it be correct to say that Dr. Reed determined that I produced valid results due to

open responding and that my profile is within normal limits?

MS. LARSEN: Yes.

MS. BESSETTE: Okay. Would it also be correct to say that Dr. Reed in her professional opinion based on evaluation results determined there was insufficient evidence that I met any criteria for substance use disorders or major mental illnesses?

MS. LARSEN: Yes.

MS. BESSETTE: And that Dr. Reed determined that my current psychological test results are all within normal limits?

MS. LARSEN: Yes.

MS. BESSETTE: And lastly, did Dr. Reed determine that my capacity to parent a young child is not significantly impaired at this time, that I'm considered trustworthy and psychiatrically stable at this time and for the foreseeable future?

...

MS. LARSEN: That was her opinion.

MS. BESSETTE: Okay. Was it also her opinion that there was no reason to continue blocking my access to [L.G.B.]?

MS. LARSEN: That was her opinion.

MS. BESSETTE: Okay. And was it – lastly, was it her opinion that if there were no rule violations during supervised visits that it was reasonable to progress rapidly to unsupervised visits?

MS. LARSEN: That was her opinion, yes.

Transcript, at 82-84.

During her testimony, Jennifer acknowledged that her “reaction could have been better” at the bowling alley, but appropriately pointed out that the incident was not substantial enough to throw out the extensively negotiated Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan. *Transcript*, at 103. Jennifer also acknowledged how

well things had been going since the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan was signed.

MS. BESSETTE: I had several visits with [L.G.B.] after November 29th that went very well. When [L.G.B.] first got back to our house the first time she kissed the garage door because she was so happy to be back home. All of our visits went really well and she was eager to spend more time with me.

Transcript, at 104.

Jennifer also made a specific request that if the Court was inclined to reappoint a GAL, it refer the matter to Family Court Services instead.

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