Ed Smith

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA DA 18-0025

IN RE THE MARRIAGE OF:

CHAD MICHAEL BESSETTE,

Petitioner and Appellee,

and

JENNIFER RUTH BESSETTE,

Respondent and Appellant.

### **APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF**

On Appeal from Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court, Flathead County Before the Honorable Robert B. Allison, DR-15-800(B)

#### Appearances:

Sean R. Gilchrist Johnson-Gilchrist Law Firm, P.C. 6336 Highway 93 South Whitefish, MT 59937 Telephone: (406) 862-3920 sean@johnsongilchristlaw.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

Jennifer Ruth Bessette 202 Blenn Street Bigfork, MT 59911 Telephone: (406) 210-6844 jennerality@icloud.com

PRO SE APPELLANT

###

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The District Court was not required to find a substantial change in circumstances, because it did not – nor was it asked to – amend the parties' parenting plan. Indeed, the District Court specifically found that even though Jennifer's dangerous behavior was "the same old stuff" she had previously

exhibited, it was not "throwing out [the] parenting plan." Rather, the District Court, noting that Jennifer's "kind of stuff harms children," temporarily suspended the parenting plan while she got counseling. Her parenting time was not suspended for 40 weeks, but only until her counselor, the child's counselor, and the child's GAL determined it was safe for the child to resume contact pursuant to the *Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan*.

Chad presented a motion and evidence alleging that Jennifer's actions were harming the child's physical, mental, and emotional health. The District Court agreed, and temporarily granted Jennifer supervised visits because "this kind of stuff harms children."

The District Court did not err by refusing to admit a psychological evaluation, because the evaluator was not present to be cross examined. And the District Court did not err by retaining the child's current guardian ad litem instead of starting the whole case over by inserting even more professionals into her life.

This Court should affirm the District Court, with encouragement to Jennifer to follow through with the guidance already provided by the District Court and multiple other professionals so she may resume being a positive, healthy parent for L.G.B.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Supreme Court reviews a parenting plan order to determine if the trial court's findings are clearly erroneous. *In re Marriage of Woerner*, 2014 MT 134, ¶11, 375 Mont 153, 325 P.3d 1244 (citing *In re Marriage of Crowley*, 2014 MT 42, ¶44, 374 Mont. 48, 318 P.3d 1031). A finding of fact is clearly erroneous if it is not supported by substantial evidence, if the District Court misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or if the Supreme Court is left with a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made. *Albrecht v. Albrecht*, 2002 MT 227, ¶8, 311 Mont. 412, 56 P.3d 339.

Absent clearly erroneous findings, the district court's decision regarding parenting will not be disturbed unless there is a clear abuse of discretion, and there is no abuse of discretion unless the trial court acted arbitrarily without employment of conscientious judgment or exceeded the bounds of reason resulting in substantial injustice. *Woerner*, ¶ 12 (citing *In re Marriage of Epperson*, 2005 MT 46, ¶ 17, 326 Mont. 142, 107 P.3d 1268).

Trial Courts have broad discretion when considering the parenting of a child, and it is presumed that the court carefully considered the evidence and made the correct decision. *In re Marriage of Tummarello*, 2012 MT 18, ¶ 34 363 Mont. 387, 270 P.3d 28. The Supreme Court has "repeated on numerous

occasions that the trial court's decision is to be accorded great deference because it is in a better position than this Court to resolve child custody issues." In re Marriage of Klatt, 2013 MT 17, ¶13, 368 Mont. 290, 294 P.3d 391 (citations omitted).

A district court's interpretation and application of statutes is reviewed for correctness. *In re T.H.*, 2005 MT 237, ¶35, 328 Mont. 428, 121 P.3d 541.

A district court's evidentiary ruling is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Puccinelli v. Puccinelli*, 2012 MT 46, ¶12, 364 Mont. 235, 272 P.3d 117. To the extent a discretionary ruling is based on a conclusion of law, the Supreme Court's review is plenary and must determine whether the court correctly interpreted the law. *Puccinelli*, ¶12, citing *In re T.W.*, 2006 MT 153, ¶8, 332 Mont. 454, 139 P.3d 810 (internal citations omitted).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. The District Court was not required to find substantial change of circumstances pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-219(1) because Chad did not ask the District Court to amend the parties' Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan

Jennifer spends a significant portion of her *Opening Brief* discussing a purported amendment to the parties' Parenting Plan under M.C.A. §40-4-219 and the corresponding pre-requisite for a substantial change in circumstances.

Opening Brief of Appellant, p. 20-25. Jennifer also spent significant time exploring what she labels Chad's "buyer's remorse" after filing of the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan. Opening Brief of Appellant, p. 10-12.

But nothing is Chad's motion suggests an amendment. Following the traumatic incident on December 13, 2017, Chad filed a Motion for Ex Parte Order for Interim Relief, and for Order to Show Cause, along with supporting Brief and Affidavit. Nowhere in his motion or brief did he ask for the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan to be amended, nor did he cite to M.C.A. § 40-4-219, the amendment statute. The relief he sought was clear. He asked the District Court to reinstate Christina Larsen as the GAL with authority to investigate and make a report to the Court, specifically requesting the parties to comply with any interim recommendations by her. (Motion for Ex Parte Order for Interim Relief, and for Order to Show Cause, p. 1-2.) Chad also asked the District Court to suspend the terms of the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan, and to cease unsupervised visits pending investigation by the child's counselor, the child's GAL, and Respondent's counselor, "to protect the immediate physical, mental, and emotional health" of L.G.B. (Brief in Support of Motion for Ex Parte Order for Interim Relief, and for Order to Show Cause, p. 4-5.)

Chad based his motion on M.C.A. §40-4-205 (Guardian ad litem), § 40-4-215 (Investigations and Report), and § 40-4-220 (Affidavit Practice, Ex Parte Temporary Living Arrangements). None of these statutes require the District Court to find a change of circumstances in order to act.

Chad made no mention of amending the Parenting Plan. The District Court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order, made no mention of amending the Parenting Plan. Indeed, the District Court specifically closed the hearing by stating, "I'm not throwing out your parenting plan. I'm hopeful that within – that a year from now it will be going full tilt 50/50," which is exactly what the parties' Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan states should happen within a year of the plan. (Transcript, at 142.)

A change in circumstances was not required because there was no amendment to the Parenting Plan.

# II. The District Court has broad discretionary authority to protect a minor child, and its authority to protect that child is not limited to 21 days or less

Jennifer's argument on this issue is based on a false presumption. She claims "[t]he Order prevents Jennifer from exercising any unsupervised time until completing a 40-week counseling series, which essentially stalls the plan for a period of 10 months." *Opening Brief of Appellant*, p. 28. Jennifer's

argument assumes her own failure to progress in counseling and to provide a safe place for L.G.B. What the District Court actually ordered is that Jennifer will resume the Transitional Parenting Schedule when three disinterested professionals – two of whom have the sole duty to protect the child – determine that Jennifer has reached a state where she can safely parent her daughter.

Jennifer next suggests Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-220(2), limits a District Court to only provide emergency relief for a child during the period of time it takes for a court to set a matter for a hearing, implying that the Court may only protect a child for a period of 21 days or less.

On the contrary, there is no provision in Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-220(2) that corners the Court after 21 days to either a) find a change in circumstances and modify the prior parenting plan, or b) absent a finding of changed circumstances, return the child to the harmful status quo.

The only deadline imposed on the District Court by this statute is the requirement to hold a hearing within 21 days of the ex parte motion, requiring the parties to show cause "why the interim parenting plan should not remain in effect until further order of the court." Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-220(2)(b).

The suggestion that a court has only 21 days to remedy all faults in the parents and send a defenseless child on her way is absurd.

The Montana Supreme Court has affirmed the actions of District Courts in other cases that have taken the same action as the lower court in this case. See In re Marriage of Njos, 270 Mont. 54, 889 P.2d 1192 (1995). In Njos, the parties, Tamara and Robert, had a parenting plan in which Robert exercised regular parenting time, including weekend, summer, and holiday visitation. Based on incidents that occurred prior to the parties' parenting plan, Tamara later sought and received an ex parte order pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-220(2)(a)(ii) (1993)<sup>1</sup> requiring that Robert's visitation be supervised. Njos, 270 Mont. at 56, 889 P.2d at 1193. At the hearing, two of Tamara's younger sisters testified that Robert had sexually assaulted them when they were children. Following a hearing, the lower court found that the father posed a risk to the children during their visitation, and ordered that the temporary modification of the father's visitation rights continue and that he undergo a sex offender evaluation. Marriage of Njos, 270 Mont. at 60, 889 P.2d at 1196.

The Montana Supreme Court found that the District Court did not abuse its discretion in continuing the temporary order requiring supervised visitation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In 1993, Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-220(2)(a)(ii) read, "A party seeking a temporary custody order may request that the court grant a temporary assignment of custody ex parte. He shall so request in his moving papers and shall submit an affidavit showing that...although a previous determination of custody has been made, the child's present environment endangers his physical or emotional health and an immediate change of custody would serve to protect the child's physical or emotional health."

following the show cause hearing. Marriage of Njos, 270 Mont. at 60, 889 P.2d at 1196. It further affirmed the District Court's decision to require Robert to undergo a sex offender evaluation.

The facts here are similar to the facts in *Njos*. Like Tamara Njos, Chad filed a motion seeking *ex parte* relief pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-220(2)(a)(ii). (Although the statutory language previously referred to custody/visitation, rather than parenting, the intent of the statute remains the same.) As in *Njos*, the District Court here determined that Jennifer should continue with supervised parenting after the hearing date. And, the District Court also determined that Jennifer should undergo post-hearing counseling – in this case, Power and Control Counseling.

Similarly here, the court did hold a timely hearing, and after presentation of all the evidence and testimony, the District Court was left convinced that the interim relief it earlier granted in suspending – not amending – the Parenting Plan should continue for a period of time not to exceed the 40 weeks Power and Control Counseling, and then return to the terms of the *Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan*.

The Montana Supreme Court has also affirmed a lower court's decision to temporarily suspend a prior child custody agreement, with an order to return

to the initial Agreement on a set date following the hearing. In re Marriage of Huotari, 284 Mont. 285, 943 P.2d 1295 (1997). In Huotari, Jeff moved ex parte to modify the child custody provisions of the parties' child custody agreement pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-219 and § 40-4-220(2)(a)(ii) (1995).<sup>2</sup> At the close of the September 6 hearing, the District Court ordered that the temporary custody order, with the child to remain in Jeff's care, would remain in effect until further order of the court. Then, approximately 54 days following the hearing, the District Court issued its findings, conclusions, and order. It ordered that the child would remain in Jeff's primary care for another eight months (the remainder of the school year), the parties would then equally share the summer, and then the parties were to resume the terms of their initial Child Custody Agreement. Huotari, 284 Mont. at 287 - 88, 943 P.2d at 1297. The Montana Supreme Court held that the lower court did not abuse its discretion with regard to the temporary custody situation, even though the temporary change lasted for nearly a full year after Jeff filed his ex parte motion. Huotari, 284 Mont. at 290, 943 P.2d at 1298.

In *Huotari*, the father sought both a short term order pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 40-4-220(2)(a)(ii), and a long term modification pursuant to Mont.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As in *Njos*, the statutes involved custody/visitation rather than 'parenting,' but the application of the statutes is consistent.

Code Ann. § 40-4-219. Here, Chad did not seek modification under § 40-4-219, but rather sought only a temporary order under § 40-4-220(2)(a)(ii). As seen in *Huotari*, a temporary order can clearly extend beyond 21 days. Indeed, the temporary order in *Huotari* lasted nearly a full year. Here, Judge Allison's temporary order was to last no more than 40 weeks, with the expectation that Jennifer would return to the Transitional Parenting Schedule under the *Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan* long before the end of 40 weeks.

Finally, a District Court may arguably suspend a parent's visitation rights indefinitely even where a motion to modify the parenting plan is not even before the court. *In re Custody of Arneson-Nelson*, 2001 MT 242, 36 P.3d 874, 307 Mont. 60. In *Arneson-Nelson*, mother Pengra and father Nelson were engaged in lengthy custody litigation over their minor child. After four years of litigation, including an investigative report in which doctors described Nelson as verbally aggressive toward Pengra and the neutral observers, indicating that "these outbursts had a negative effect on [the child]...that [the child] was not frightened of his father, except during Nelson's outbursts." *Arneson-Nelson*, ¶ 11. The District Court entered a Final Parenting Plan in April 1999, placing the child primarily with Pengra, granting specific visitation to Nelson, and requiring Nelson to undergo anger management counseling. *Arneson-Nelson*, ¶ 12.

Less than a year after the Final Parenting Plan was ordered, Pengra filed a Motion for an Ex Parte Order and Hearing, asking the court to suspend Nelson's visitation rights. *Arneson-Nelson*, ¶ 13. She also asked the court to set a hearing in six months to determine whether supervised visits could renew. *Arneson-Nelson*, ¶ 40. At the hearing on Pengra's ex parte motion, her expert testified that Nelson's behavior negatively affected the child, that the child was emotionally disturbed, and that the source of these problems was the child's fear of his father and the hostilities between the parents. *Arneson-Nelson*, ¶ 18.

The trial court actually went beyond what Pengra requested, indefinitely suspending Nelson's physical contact with the child, effectively terminating Nelson's rights to physical contact with the child. *Arneson-Nelson*, ¶ 14, 42. The Montana Supreme Court affirmed the lower court's decision to effectively amend the prior parenting plan by suspending Nelson's physical conduct indefinitely – even though Pengra did not file a motion to amend the parenting plan, and even though the trial court did not make a specific finding of a "change in circumstances." *Arneson-Nelson*, ¶ 38.

Here, as in *Arneson-Nelson*, the parties are engaged in a high-conflict dispute, involving multiple requests for orders of protection, multiple requests for ex parte relief, a Partner/Family Member Assault charge against Jennifer,

Page 28

and testimony from multiple sources that the minor child is frightened by her mother. Even though the Montana Supreme Court has affirmed the actions of other District Court's that issued long-term suspensions of parental contact following motions for temporary ex parte relief, the District Court in this case did not even go as far as those courts.

Jennifer admits that the GAL was "empowered under the language of the Stipulated Amended Parenting Plan to slow down the transition schedule." Opening Brief of Appellant, p. 24. That is exactly what the District Court has done after the January 3, 2018, hearing. It has suspended the parenting plan, and the transitional parenting schedule, pending a follow up investigation by the GAL and attendance of Power and Control Counseling by Jennifer.

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